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Member States Questionnaire (MSQ) for the United Nations  

E-Government Survey 2022 

The objective of this questionnaire is to gather information from Member States in preparation of the 

United Nations E-Government Survey 2022. Please note that these responses do not directly affect the 

UN E-Government Development Index (EGDI), which is a composite index of the Online Service Index (OSI), 

Telecommunications Infrastructure Index (TII) and Human Capital Index (HCI). UNDESA assesses national 

portals with the assistance of independent researchers to construct the OSI, and requests data from the 

International Telecommunications Union (ITU) and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 

Organization (UNESCO) to construct TII and HCI respectively. Inputs to the MSQ will be used by the United 

Nations E-Government Survey 2022 team for more in-depth country analysis, fact-checking and data 

quality assurance.    

Refer here for a glossary of terminologies: https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb   

More information about the UN E-Government Survey: 

https://publicadministration.un.org/en/Research/UN-e-Government-Surveys   

For any questions about this questionnaire, please contact Madeleine Losch (email: loschm@un.org) 

and Rachael Purcell (email: purcell@un.org).  

 

 

COUNTRY NAME* Republic of Indonesia 
 

 

  Contact information 

Your name* Tjahjo Kumolo 
 

Title* Minister of Administrative and Bureaucratic 
Reform 

 

Organization* The Ministry of Administrative and 
Bureaucratic Reform 

 

Email* asdep2balaks@menpan.go.id  
 

 

Please select whichever applies* 

 I am authorized and fully knowledgeable to respond to this questionnaire. 

 A group of government agencies responded to the questionnaire collectively. 

      I did not have the full information to respond to this questionnaire. 

  I mostly provided my own opinion/assessment rather than official information. 

      Other ___________________________________________________________ 

 

https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb
https://publicadministration.un.org/en/Research/UN-e-Government-Surveys
mailto:loschm@un.org
mailto:purcell@un.org
mailto:asdep2balaks@menpan.go.id
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A. Institutional / Organizational Framework 

1. What is the official e-government portal at the national level? If more than one exists, please list all. * 

Indonesian Government Portal https://indonesia.go.id  ,  
e-Government Portal https://spbe.go.id 
 

 

2. Please provide links (Links) for portals providing specific services/features* 

E-services or similar  A. Online Single Submission Portal [OSS] 
https://www.oss.go.id 

B. Indonesia National Single Window Portal 
http://insw.go.id 

C. Public Services Portal, https://sipp.menpan.go.id/ 
 

 

E-participation or 
similar 

A. Public Complaint Handling Portal 
https://www.lapor.go.id/ 

B. Public Consultation Portal http://konsultasi-
publik.bappenas.go.id  

C. Internet Content Complaints 
https://www.aduankonten.id/  

D. The portal for collecting bank account databases is 
suspected of being a criminal offense.  
https://cekrekening.id/   
 

 

Open government 
data 

A. One Data Indonesia Portal https://data.go.id/ 
B. Open Map Indonesia https://tanahair.indonesia.go.id 
C. National Statistical Record https://bps.go.id/ 
D. National Law & Regulation Portal https://jdihn.go.id/ 

 
 

Public procurement A. National Procurement Portal Dashboard 
https://eproc.lkpp.go.id  

B. For Large Companies  https://lpse.lkpp.go.id/eproc4/ 
C. For Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises 

https://belapengadaan.lkpp.go.id/home/ 
 

 

Others (if any) A. National Driver’s License Service, 
http://sim.korlantas.polri.go.id/devregistrasi/index.php/registrasi/index 

B. National Tax Service, https://djponline.pajak.go.id/ 
C. National Immigration Service, http://www.imigrasi.go.id 
D. Indonesian Health Insurance System 

https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=app.bpjs.mobile 
E. Institution of Social Security employment (BPJS Ketenagakerjaan) 

https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.bpjstku 
F. NPWP Online / Online Tax ID Number https://ereg.pajak.go.id/login 
G. Government Official Assets Report Portal https://elhkpn.kpk.go.id 
H. Online Passport Portal http://www.imigrasi.go.id/index.php/en/public-

services/passport#general 

https://indonesia.go.id/
http://spbe.go.id/
https://www.oss.go.id/
http://insw.go.id/
https://sipp.menpan.go.id/
https://www.lapor.go.id/
http://konsultasi-publik.bappenas.go.id/
http://konsultasi-publik.bappenas.go.id/
https://www.aduankonten.id/
https://cekrekening.id/
https://data.go.id/
https://tanahair.indonesia.go.id/
https://bps.go.id/
https://jdihn.go.id/
https://eproc.lkpp.go.id/
https://lpse.lkpp.go.id/eproc4/
https://belapengadaan.lkpp.go.id/home/
http://sim.korlantas.polri.go.id/devregistrasi/index.php/registrasi/index
https://djponline.pajak.go.id/
http://www.imigrasi.go.id/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=app.bpjs.mobile
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.bpjstku
https://ereg.pajak.go.id/login
https://elhkpn.kpk.go.id/
http://www.imigrasi.go.id/index.php/en/public-services/passport#general
http://www.imigrasi.go.id/index.php/en/public-services/passport#general
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I. Mobile Online Passport Service 
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=id.go.imigrasi.layananwni 

J. Online Tax Portal https://djponline.pajak.go.id 
K. Government Official Assets Report Portal https://elhkpn.kpk.go.id 
L. State Civil Apparatus Admission Portal https://sscn.bkn.go.id/ 
M. Village Service Portal http://layanan.desa.id/ 
 

 

 

3. Please provide name and link of the government agency/department/ministry at the national level in 

charge of e-government. If more than one exists, please list all. * 

National E-Government Coordinating Team: 
The Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform) https://www.menpan.go.id 
The Ministry of ICT https://kominfo.go.id/ 
The Ministry of National Planning and Development, https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/ 
The Ministry of Internal Affairs, https://www.kemendagri.go.id/ 
The Ministry of Finance, https://www.kemenkeu.go.id/ 
The Agency for the Assessment and Application of Technology Indonesia, https://www.bppt.go.id/ 
The National Cyber and Crypto Agency, https://bssn.go.id/ 
 

 

4. Does your country have a Chief Information Officer (CIO) or equivalent to manage its national e-

government strategies/programmes? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide contact information of national Chief Information Officer (CIO) or equivalent: 

Your name* Tjahjo Kumolo 
 

Title* Minister of Administrative and Bureaucratic 
Reform 

 

Organization* The Ministry of Administrative and 
Bureaucratic Reform 

 

Email* asdep2balaks@menpan.go.id  
 

 

Please provide links and details on the above, including coordination/integration between national and 

sub-national levels on e-government strategies/programmes. 

To improve the integration of the national e-government implementation, through article 59 of 
Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on e-government, a national e-government coordination 
team was formed. The National E-government Coordination Team is responsible to the President. It has 
the task of coordinating and implementing e-government policies at Central and Local Governments. 
In carrying out the duties, the relevant ministers/heads of institutions are involved in accordance with 
their respective authorities and roles. The duties and work procedures are determined by the Chairman 
of the National SPBE Coordination Team, which is the Minister of Administrative and Bureaucratic 
Reform. 
Ref. 
Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on e-Government,  
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf  
https://menpan.go.id/site/ 

https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=id.go.imigrasi.layananwni
https://djponline.pajak.go.id/
https://elhkpn.kpk.go.id/
https://sscn.bkn.go.id/
http://layanan.desa.id/
https://www.menpan.go.id/
https://kominfo.go.id/
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/
https://www.kemendagri.go.id/
https://www.kemenkeu.go.id/
https://www.bppt.go.id/
https://bssn.go.id/
mailto:asdep2balaks@menpan.go.id
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://menpan.go.id/site/
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Sectoral agencies/departments/ministries 
5. Please provide names and links of the government agencies/departments/ministries at the national 

level in charge of the following* 

Planning/development The Ministry of National Development Planning 
https://www.bappenas.go.id 

 

Education The Ministry of Education, Culture, Research and Technology 
https://www.kemdikbud.go.id 

 

Health The Ministry of Health https://www.kemkes.go.id/ 
 

Social Welfare  
(inclusion, social protection, etc.) 

The Ministry of Social Affairs https://www.kemsos.go.id 
 

 

Employment and Labour The Ministry of Manpower https://kemnaker.go.id 
 

Environment The Ministry of Environment and Forestry 
https://www.menlhk.go.id  

 

Justice The Ministry of Law and Human Rights 
https://www.kemenkumham.go.id 

 

Economy/finance The Ministry of Finance https://www.kemenkeu.go.id   
The Directorate General of Taxation https://www.pajak.go.id 

 

Industry/trade The Ministry of Industry www.kemenperin.go.id,  
The Ministry of Trade https://www.kemendag.go.id 

 

B. COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

6. Is there a specific national portal or a dedicated section addressing the COVID-19 pandemic*? 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and more information about the specific national portal or dedicated section 

addressing the COVID-19 pandemic? 

COVID-19 Pandemic National Portal, https://covid19.go.id/ 
This site is officially managed by the Task Force for the Acceleration of Handling COVID-19 as an 
official form of information to the Indonesian people regarding the COVID-19 Pandemic. And also, in 
order to accelerate Covid-19 handling and information sharing in local coverage, there are several of 
Local Government portal that can be access from this link 
 https://kawalcovid19.id/pemerintah-daerah 

 

7. Is there any specific budget allocated for new initiative/measure(s) of e-government in response to 

the COVID-19 pandemic and/or in supporting recovery?  Please provide link and detail. 

Yes, Indonesia government has provided the information on the specific budget allocation for the 
Covid-19 pandemic responses including the budget of supporting recovery in the following link 
https://www.kemenkeu.go.id/covid19 .  
In total of more than 677 trillion rupiahs, the Ministry of Finance has shared the allocation into several 
portions of the budget either on central and local governments in order to support the Industry, Health, 
and Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises by focusing on the middle class and poor people. 
There is a small amount of e-government in every portion of the budget since the e-government 
support is urgently needed in most of all aspects in order to assist the recovery from Covid-19 
pandemic. For example, in the context of the central government, the Ministry of Communication and 
Information in collaboration with the Ministry of State Owned Enterprises have used some portion of 

https://www.bappenas.go.id/
https://www.kemdikbud.go.id/
https://www.kemkes.go.id/
https://www.kemsos.go.id/
https://kemnaker.go.id/
https://www.menlhk.go.id/
https://www.kemenkumham.go.id/
https://www.kemenkeu.go.id/
https://www.pajak.go.id/
http://www.kemenperin.go.id/
https://www.kemendag.go.id/
https://covid19.go.id/
https://kawalcovid19.id/pemerintah-daerah
https://www.kemenkeu.go.id/covid19
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the state budget to build a mobile based e-government application called PeduliLindungi. 
PeduliLindungi is an application developed to stop the transmission of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) 
that relies on concern (care) and community participation to share location data with each other while 
traveling so that tracing the history of contact with sufferers of COVID-19 can be carried out. 
(https://pedulilindungi.id/) 
In the perspective of the health sector, the Ministry of Health has used the portion of their e-
government or ICT budget to realize the Mobile Based Electronic Health Alert Card (e-HAC) Apps 
(https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.kemenkes.inahac&hl=en&gl=US)  to minimize 
the risk of transmitting COVID-19 by travelers and PCare Application to record the Covid-19 
vaccinations. https://pcare.bpjs-kesehatan.go.id/vaksin/Login (https://kawalcovid19.id/vaksin) 
These similar best practices are also implemented by the local governments. Not only providing covid-
19 handling portal (https://kawalcovid19.id/pemerintah-daerah), several local governments also 
created some innovations using their e-government and ICT budget. From creating the application to 
prevent the spread of coronavirus to optimizing the applications that help meet basic needs during 
pandemic, e-government has been playing such a big part in pandemic recovery in Indonesia. (link for 
example https://jaki.jakarta.go.id/ and https://pikobar.jabarprov.go.id/ ) 

 

8. Is there a specific post-COVID-19 digital strategy for recovery and allocation of public resources (e.g. 

for digital transformation, digital inclusion)? Please provide link and detail. 

As mandated in the Presidential Regulation No. 95/2018 in collaboration to the mandate in the 
Presidential Regulation No. 39/2019, adjusting to covid-19 pandemic digital strategy for recovery, an e-
government roadmap is being developed in the format of national e-government programs. The 
programs are selected from the e-government master plan and the national medium-term 
development plan with reference to the determined project selection criteria. Out of the big number 
of projects selected, several projects are grouped as the flagship programs.  
Flagship programs are programs that get priority for coordination and implementation. These high-
impact, scalable programs are hoped to bring about fast, direct and impactful changes for the people 
as users of e-government services. Flagship programs help structure the implementation of e-
government, as is also happening in other countries. Indonesia is currently building a package of 
programs that could meet its e-government strategic plan with several priority tasks and activities as 
follows. 
1. Delivery of whole-of-government strategies, policies and advice; 
2. Design, delivery and support building for common, government-wide platforms and services that 

enable digital transformation; 
3. Delivery of digital and ICT capability improvement, including sourcing, to enhance capability and 

skills; and 
4. Support for collaboration and partnerships to enable and accelerate the digital transformation of 

government services. 
In collaboration between the National E-Government Coordinating Team and Indonesia One Data 
Forum, the Ministries and Agencies have determined the criteria for the Indonesian e-government 
flagship programs. The flagship programs are programs that have direct impact to citizens on either 
one of (1) business services; (2) health services; (3) education services; (4) social services and (5) 
government administration services.   
The E-Government roadmap which is currently developed is combining all the new directives from the 
President with strategic objectives from the President Regulations 95/2018 and the President 
Regulations 39/2019 adjusting the post-covid-19 pandemic recovery strategy (as stated by the 
resident in the following link) https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s_XnrxG-WfQ  

https://pedulilindungi.id/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.kemenkes.inahac&hl=en&gl=US
https://pcare.bpjs-kesehatan.go.id/vaksin/Login
https://kawalcovid19.id/vaksin
https://kawalcovid19.id/pemerintah-daerah
https://jaki.jakarta.go.id/
https://pikobar.jabarprov.go.id/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s_XnrxG-WfQ
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C. Legal Framework 

9. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on access to information, such as a Freedom of Information 

Act? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia already has a policy in the form of Act Number 14 Year 2008 concerning Public Information 
Disclosure in order to uphold human rights. Indonesia realizes that the disclosure of public information 
is one of the important characteristics of a democratic country that upholds the sovereignty of the 
people to realize good state administration. The policy regulates the disclosure of public information 
as a means of optimizing public oversight of state administration and also as one of the efforts to 
develop an information society. 
Link 
Freedom of Information Act: Act Number 14 Year 2008 on Public Information Disclosure, 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOHV1MDE0LnBkZg  

 

10. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on data privacy and/or protection? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia already has several regulations regarding the protection of personal data as a legal basis in 
order to protect personal data which is one of the human rights. The personal data protection policy is 
to guarantee the right of citizens to personal protection and increase public awareness and ensure 
recognition and respect for the importance of protecting personal data. This is stated in Government 
Regulation Number 82 of 2012 concerning the Implementation of Electronic Systems and Transactions, 
which has been amended by Government Regulation Number 71 of 2019, (link 1) that is further 
regulated in the Regulation of the Minister of ICT Number 20 of 2016 (link 2) concerning Personal Data 
Protection. Personal Data in the Electronic System is carried out in the process of obtaining and 
collecting, processing and analyzing, storing, displaying, posting, transmitting, disseminating, and/or 
opening access, and deletion.  

In addition, the protection of personal data in terms of financial transactions is regulated in Bank 
Indonesia Regulation Number: 7/6/Pbi/2005 on Transparency of Bank Product Information (link 2) and 
Use of Customer Personal Data and Financial Services Authority Regulation Number 1/POJK. 07/2013 
concerning Consumer Protection in the Financial Services Sector (link 3).  

The policies are listed below: 

1. Government Regulation Number 71 of 2019 
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/695/t/peraturan+pemerintah+nomor+71+tah
un+2019+tanggal+10+oktober+2019  

2. Ministry of ICT Regulation No 20 Year 2016 on Personal Data 
Protection.https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/980214  

3. Bank Indonesia Regulation Number: 7/6/Pbi/2005 concerning Transparency of Bank Product 
Information and Use of Customer Personal Data.  

https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOHV1MDE0LnBkZg
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/695/t/peraturan+pemerintah+nomor+71+tahun+2019+tanggal+10+oktober+2019
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/695/t/peraturan+pemerintah+nomor+71+tahun+2019+tanggal+10+oktober+2019
https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/980214
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https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/regulasi/peraturan-bank-indonesia/Pages/peraturan-
bank-indonesia-nomor-7-6-pbi-2005.aspx  

4. Financial Services Authority Regulation Number 1/POJK.07/2013 concerning Consumer 
Protection in the Financial Services Sector 
https://www.ojk.go.id/id/regulasi/Documents/Pages/SEOJK-tentang-Kerahasiaan-dan-
Keamanan-Data-dan-atau-Informasi-Pribadi-
Konsumen/SE%20OJK%2014.%20Kerahasiaan%20Data%20dan%20Informasi.pdf 

 

11. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on cybersecurity or similar? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia has several policies regarding cyber security. The following are some regulations and their 
explanations regarding cyber security policies.  

Cybercrime 

Indonesia Cybercrime law was established in 2008 under the Electronic Information and Transaction 

Act Number 11 Year 2008, and amended in 2016 for some articles. 

This regulation regulates several things including: 

a.       Unauthorized online behavior; 

(1)      Illegal access to devices computer systems, and data: 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 30 (1) Every person intentionally and 

without right or unlawfully accesses another person's Computer and/or Electronic System in 

any way. (2) Every person intentionally and without right or unlawfully accesses Computers 

and/or Electronic Systems in any manner with the aim of obtaining Electronic Information 

and/or Electronic Documents. (3) Every person intentionally and without rights or violates the 

law of access to Computers and/or Electronic Systems in any way by fighting, breaking 

through, moving, or breaking into security systems. 

(2)      Illegal interferences (through data input, alteration, and suppression) on devices, data, and 

computer systems 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 32 (1) Every person intentionally and 

without rights or against the law in any way alters, adds, subtracts, transmits, damages, 

transmission, removes, conceals an Electronic Information and/or Electronic Document that 

belongs to another person or public property. (2) Any person who intentionally and without 

rights or against the law in any way transfers or transfers Electronic Information and/or 

Electronic Documents to the Electronic System of another person who is not entitled, (3) 

Against the acts referred to in paragraph (1) which results in the disclosure of Information 

Confidential Electronics and/or Electronic Documents become publicly accessible with undue 

data integrity. System Interferences Article 33 Everyone intentionally and without rights or 

unlawfully takes any action that results in disruption of the Electronic System and/or results 

in the Electronic System not working properly 

https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/regulasi/peraturan-bank-indonesia/Pages/peraturan-bank-indonesia-nomor-7-6-pbi-2005.aspx
https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/regulasi/peraturan-bank-indonesia/Pages/peraturan-bank-indonesia-nomor-7-6-pbi-2005.aspx
https://www.ojk.go.id/id/regulasi/Documents/Pages/SEOJK-tentang-Kerahasiaan-dan-Keamanan-Data-dan-atau-Informasi-Pribadi-Konsumen/SE%20OJK%2014.%20Kerahasiaan%20Data%20dan%20Informasi.pdf
https://www.ojk.go.id/id/regulasi/Documents/Pages/SEOJK-tentang-Kerahasiaan-dan-Keamanan-Data-dan-atau-Informasi-Pribadi-Konsumen/SE%20OJK%2014.%20Kerahasiaan%20Data%20dan%20Informasi.pdf
https://www.ojk.go.id/id/regulasi/Documents/Pages/SEOJK-tentang-Kerahasiaan-dan-Keamanan-Data-dan-atau-Informasi-Pribadi-Konsumen/SE%20OJK%2014.%20Kerahasiaan%20Data%20dan%20Informasi.pdf
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(3)      Illegal interceptions on devices, computer systems, and data 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 31 (1) Every person intentionally and 

without rights or against the law intercepts or intercepts Electronic Information and/or 

Electronic Documents in a particular Computer and/or Electronic System that belongs to 

another person. (2) Every person intentionally and without rights or against the law intercepts 

the transmission of Electronic Information and or Electronic Documents that are not public in 

nature from, to, and in a particular Person's Computer and/or Electronic System, whether that 

does not cause any changes or that causes changes, omissions and/or termination Electronic 

Information and/or Electronic Documents that are being transmitted (3) Except interception 

as referred to in paragraph (1) and paragraph (2), interception conducted in the context of 

law enforcement at the request of the police, prosecutors, and/or law enforcement 

institutions other stipulated under the law (4) Further provisions regarding the procedure for 

interception as referred to in paragraph (3) shall be regulated by Government Regulation. 

(4)      Online identity and data theft 

Article no.26 (1) Unless specified by statutory regulations, the use of any information via 

electronic media relating to the personal data must be made with the consent of the person 

concerned. (2) Any person whose rights are violated subject to paragraph (1) can file a lawsuit 

for damages incurred under this Law. 

Elucidation of Article 26 paragraph (1) states that: 

In the use of Information Technology, personal data protection is a part of the privacy rights. 

The privacy rights contain understanding as follows: 

(a)       Privacy right is the right to enjoy private life and free of all kind distraction. 

(b)      Privacy right is the right to get communicate with others without action spy. 

(c)    Privacy right is the right to control access information about personal life and data 

someone. 

Article 30 section (2) “Anyone who knowingly and without right or against the law accesses 

computers and/or electronic systems in any way for the purpose of obtaining Electronic 

Information and/or Electronic Documents.” 

Article 32 section 2: “Any person who intentionally and without rights or against the law in 

any way transfers or transfers Electronic Information and/or Electronic Documents to the 

Electronic System of another person who is not reserve the right”. 

Personal Data Protection Principles states in Government Decree no 71/2019 operation of 

electronic systems and transactions. 

 The lawsuit for the Personal Data Protection is also reaffirmed in Article 32 MCIT Decree no 

20/2016 Personal data Protection on Electronic System. 

b.      Computer- related forgery (piracy/copyright infringements): 

Copyright Act 2014, on article 40 section (1) “Protected works include works in the fields of science, 

art and literature, consisting of: … s. Computer Programs.” 
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Also, on article 59 section (1): “Copyright Protection for Works: … (e.) Computer Program (i.) 

compilation of Works or data, either in a format that can be read by a computer program or other 

media.” 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 35: “Anyone who knowingly and without 

rights or against the law manipulates, creates, changes, removes, destroys Electronic Information 

and/or Electronic Documents with the aim that Electronic Information and/or Electronic 

Documents are considered as authentic data”. 

 c.       Online Safety 

(1)      On offenses related to racist and xenophobic: 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 28 point 2 “Every person intentionally 

and without the right to disseminate information intended to incite hatred or hostility of 

certain individuals and/or groups of people based on ethnicity, religion, race, and intergroup 

(SARA)” 

(2)      Online harassment and abuse against personal dignity/integrity: 

Article 27 paragraph (1) Anyone knowingly and without right distributes and/or transmits 

and/or makes accessible Electronic Information and/or Electronic Documents that have 

content that violates decency. 

Article 27 Section (3) Anyone who knowingly and without rights distributes and/or transmits 

and/or causes to be accessible Electronic Information and/or Electronic Documents that have 

content of insult and/or defamation of good name. 

Article 29: Anyone knowingly and without authority sends Electronic Information and/or 

Electronic Documents that contain threats of violence or scare aimed personally. 

(3)      Child Online Protection: 

Electronic Information and Transaction act 2008 Article 27 point 1 jo Articles 52 Article 27 

point (1) Every person  intentionally and without the right to distribute and/[ or transmit 

and/or make accessible Electronic Information and/or Electronic Documents that have 

contents that violate decency Article 52 (1) In the  case of a criminal offense as referred to in 

Article 27 paragraph (1) involving immorality or sexual exploitation of children is subject to 

the weighting of one-third of the principal crime.  

Implementation of Electronic Systems and Transactions 

Government Regulation No. 71 of 2019 on the Implementation of Electronic Systems and Transactions. 

This regulation regulates several things including: 

a.       Personal data and privacy protection; 

b.       Data breach and incident notification; 

c.       Digital Signature Scheme 

d.       Trustmark Certificate Scheme for Electronic System Provider on Private sector 

e.       Information Security and Cybersecurity implementation and audit requirements; 

f.        Critical Information Infrastructure Scheme, including Government Sector.  
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Implementation of cybersecurity-related standards 

National and Crypto Agency Decree No 8 of 2020 on Security Systems in Electronic Systems 

Implementation. 

Article 9: 

(1)    Electronic System Operators implementing strategic Electronic Systems must apply: 

a.    SNI ISO / IEC 27001; 

b.    other security standards related to cybersecurity established by the BSSN; and 

c.     other security standards related to cybersecurity established by the Ministry or Institution. 

(2)    Electronic System Operator that operates high Electronic System is obliged to apply: 

a.    SNI ISO / IEC 27001 and/or other security standards related to cybersecurity established by 

BSSN; and 

b.    other security standards related to cybersecurity established by the Ministry or Institution. 

(3)    Electronic System Operators operating low Electronic Systems are obliged to implement: 

a.    SNI ISO / IEC 27001; or 

b.    other security standards related to cybersecurity established by the BSSN. 

 

Indonesia also regulates e-Government Information Security Management Guidelines and e-

Government Security Technical Standards and Procedures in the form of a Regulation of the Head of 

the National Cyber and Crypto Agency. 

Identifying and protecting the national critical infrastructures 

Indonesia Government Decree on Implementation on Electronic System and Transaction 2019 Article 

99: 

(1) The government determines institutions or institutions that have strategic electronic data that 

must be protected. 

(2) Agencies or institutions that have strategic Electronic Data that must be protected as referred 

to in paragraph (1), include: 

a. The Government administration sector; 

b. The Energy and mineral resources sector; 

c.  Transportation sector; 

d. Financial sector; 

e. Health sector; 

f.   The Information and Communication Technology sector; 

g. The Food sector; 

h. The Defense sector; and 

i.   other sectors established by the President. 

Responsible Agency for cyber security 
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In the context of realizing national cyber security, protection, sovereignty and increasing national 

economic growth, it is necessary to organize the National Cyber and Crypto Agency. Based on 

Presidential decree 53 of 2017 and revised in Presidential decree 28 of 2021 on National Cyber and 

Crypto Agency, to ensure the implementation of government policies and programs in cyber security.  

Reference link: 

1.    Presidential decree 53 of 2017 on National Cyber and Crypto Agency 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-53-tahun-2017-tentang-badan-siber-dan-

sandi-negara  

2.    Presidential decree 28 of 2021 on National Cyber and Crypto Agency 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-28-tahun-2021-tentang-badan-siber-dan-

sandi-negara  

3.    Electronic Information and Transactions Act Number 19 Year 2016 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/UU2016-19-pub-12192016180910.pdf  

4.    Electronic Information and Transaction Act Number 11 Year 2008 

https://www.kpk.go.id/images/pdf/uu%20pip/UU_ITE%20no%2011%20Th%202008.pdf  

5.    Intellectual Property Act Number 28 Year 2014 

https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/38690 

6.    Operation of Electronic Systems and Transactions Government Decree Number 71 Year 2019  

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/16_PP-71-Tahun-2019-Penyelenggara-

Sistem-Transaksi-Elektronik.pdf 

7.    MCIT Decree Number 20 Year 2016 on Personal data Protection on Electronic System 

https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/553/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+dan+inf

ormatika+nomor+20+tahun+2016+tanggal+1+desember+2016  

8.    National Cyber and Crypto Agency Decree Number 8 Year 2020: 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-

Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf  

9.  National Cyber and Crypto Agency Decree Number 8 Year 2020: 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-
Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf 

 

12. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on digital identity? * 

 Yes  No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

 
Indonesia already has several regulations regarding digital identity. First of all, Act Number 24 Year 2013 
on Amendments to Act Number 23 Year 2006 on Population Administration mandates that all 
Indonesian people must have an electronic identity card (KTP-Elektronik / Electronic ID card) as the 
official identity of Indonesian residents.  
 

https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-53-tahun-2017-tentang-badan-siber-dan-sandi-negara
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-53-tahun-2017-tentang-badan-siber-dan-sandi-negara
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-28-tahun-2021-tentang-badan-siber-dan-sandi-negara
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perpres-nomor-28-tahun-2021-tentang-badan-siber-dan-sandi-negara
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/UU2016-19-pub-12192016180910.pdf
https://www.kpk.go.id/images/pdf/uu%20pip/UU_ITE%20no%2011%20Th%202008.pdf
https://peraturan.bpk.go/
https://peraturan.bpk.go/
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/16_PP-71-Tahun-2019-Penyelenggara-Sistem-Transaksi-Elektronik.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/16_PP-71-Tahun-2019-Penyelenggara-Sistem-Transaksi-Elektronik.pdf
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/553/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+dan+informatika+nomor+20+tahun+2016+tanggal+1+desember+2016
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/553/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+dan+informatika+nomor+20+tahun+2016+tanggal+1+desember+2016
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Perban-Nomor-8-Tahun-2020-ttg-Sistem-Pengamanan-dalam-Penyelenggaraan-Sistem-Elektronik_sign1.pdf


12 

 

The next digital identity policy is the Regulation of the Minister of Law and Human Rights Number 8 
Year 2014 on General Passports and Travel Letters which regulates the use of electronic passports for 
the citizens of Indonesia. 

Reference link:  

1. Act Number 24 Year 2013 on Population Administration, https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-
categories/detail/833471   

2. Government Regulation Number 102 Year 2012 on Implementation of Act Number 24 Year 
2013 on Population Administration. https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/837882  

3. Regulation of the Minister of Law and Human Rights Number 8 Year 2014 on General 
Passports and Travel Letters 
http://agam.imigrasi.go.id/assets/docs/docs_20190331_080608.pdf 

 

13. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on digital signature? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Yes, digital signatures have been regulated in Electronic Information and Transaction Act Number 11 

Year 2008 and Regulation of the Minister of Communication and Information Technology Number 11 

Year 2018 under the name Electronic certificate and Electronic signature. 

Regulation of the Minister of Communication and Information Technology Number 11 Year 2018 on 

Electronic Certification 

Article 1 Section (3): 

“Electronic Certificate is a certificate that is electronic in nature containing an Electronic Signature 

and identity that shows the status of the legal subject of the parties in Electronic Transactions issued 

by Electronic Certification Providers.” 

Electronic Information and Transaction Act Number 11 Year 2008, Article 11 section (1): “Electronic 

Signatures have legal force and legal consequences as long as they meet the requirements” 

Use of Digital/Electronics Signature in Government services and applications: 

Article 31 

(1)    Application for an Electronic Certificate submitted by: a. natural persons, including 

Government Officers, Indonesian National Army, National Police of The Republic of Indonesia, 

and foreign nationals; and b. business entity. 

(2)    Application as intended in paragraph (1) submitted to the Electronic Certification Provider 

which has gained recognition as an Operator Electronic Certification as follows: 

a.         The applicant who is a Government Officer, Indonesian National Army, and State Police 

Republic of Indonesia submits to Provider of Electronic Government Certification; and 

https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/833471
https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/833471
https://jdihn.go.id/search/all-categories/detail/837882
http://agam.imigrasi.go.id/assets/docs/docs_20190331_080608.pdf
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b.         The applicants who are other than those mentioned in point a. can submit to the Provider 

Non- Government Electronic Certification. 

National Cyber and Crypto Agency Regulation Number 10 Year 2017 concerning the Implementation 

of Electronic Certificates. 

In order to support information security in the implementation of e-government, the National Cyber 

and Crypto Agency has established an Electronic Certification Center which provides electronic 

certification services called the digital certificate authority (BSrE) 

Article 2 

(1) BSrE aims to manage and issue Electronic Certificates used in electronic systems to meet the 

aspects of electronic information security in government agencies. 

(2) BSrE issues and ensures Electronic Certificates in accordance with the provisions stipulated in 

Certificate Policy. 

Link: 

1. Regulation of the Minister of Communication and Information Technology Number 11 Year 

2018 on Electronic Certification 

https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/617/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+da

n+informatika+nomor+11+tahun+2018+tanggal+6+september+2018  

2. Electronic Information and Transaction Act Number 11 Year 2008 

https://www.kpk.go.id/images/pdf/uu%20pip/UU_ITE%20no%2011%20Th%202008.pdf   

3. National Cyber and Crypto Agency Regulation Number 10 Year 2017 concerning the 

Implementation of Electronic Certificates https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perka-nomor-

10-tahun-2017-tentang-penyelenggaraan-sertifikat-elektronik 

 

14. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on e-procurement? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

The e-Procurement has been regulated in Presidential Regulation of the Republic of Indonesia Number 
12 Year 2021 concerning Amendments to Presidential Regulation Number 16 Year 2018 concerning 
Government Procurement of Goods/Services.  
 
Ref. 
e-Procurement: Presidential Regulation No 16 Year 2018 on Government Goods and Services 
Procurement, https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOHByMDE2LnBkZg  
 
 

https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/617/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+dan+informatika+nomor+11+tahun+2018+tanggal+6+september+2018
https://jdih.kominfo.go.id/produk_hukum/view/id/617/t/peraturan+menteri+komunikasi+dan+informatika+nomor+11+tahun+2018+tanggal+6+september+2018
https://www.kpk.go.id/images/pdf/uu%20pip/UU_ITE%20no%2011%20Th%202008.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perka-nomor-10-tahun-2017-tentang-penyelenggaraan-sertifikat-elektronik
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/arsip-hukum/perka-nomor-10-tahun-2017-tentang-penyelenggaraan-sertifikat-elektronik
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOHByMDE2LnBkZg
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15. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on digitally publishing government expenditure? * 
Note: This is related to SDG Indicator 16.6.1 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Yes, digitally publishing government expenditure has been regulated in Act Number 17 Year 2003 on 
State Finances. 
 
Ref. 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwM3V1MDE3LnBkZg  

 

16. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on data sharing/exchange/interoperability across 

government agencies? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia already has several regulations regarding data sharing between Government Agencies as the 
basis for its implementation. The policy regarding data interoperability is contained in Government 
Regulation Number 82 Year 2012 on Implementation of Electronic Systems and Transactions revised 
with Government Regulation Number 71 Year 2019 and Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 
on e-Government. In addition, Indonesia also has a regulation regarding the One Data Presidential 
Regulation Number 39 Year 2019 on One Data Policy, in which the regulation regulates data 
management and data sharing between Government Agencies. 
 
Links: 
 

1. Government Regulation Number 82 Year 2012 on Implementation of Electronic System and 
Transaction, Revised with Government Regulation Number 71 Year 2019, 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXBwMDcxLnBkZg  

2. Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on e-Government, 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf  

3. Presidential Regulation Number 39 Year 2019 on Indonesia One Data, 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXByMDM5LnBkZg  

 

17. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on open government data? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

 
Indonesia already has several regulations regarding open government data as stated in Act Number 14 
Year 2008 on Public Information Disclosure and Presidential Regulation Number 39 Year 2019 on 
Indonesia One Data 
Links: 

1. Act Number 14 Year 2008 on Public Information Disclosure   
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOHV1MDE0LnBkZg  

2. Presidential Regulation Number 39 Year 2019 on Indonesia One Data, 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXByMDM5LnBkZg  

https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwM3V1MDE3LnBkZg
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXBwMDcxLnBkZg
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXByMDM5LnBkZg
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOHV1MDE0LnBkZg
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxOXByMDM5LnBkZg
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18. Is there any legislation, law or regulation on the use of new/emerging technologies such as artificial 

intelligence (AI), robotics, block chains, 5G and Internet of Things (IoT)? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

National strategy to use future technology such as Artificial intelligence (AI), Big Data, Robotics, 
Mobile Internet and Internet of Things can be found in Presidential Regulation No 95 Year 2018 on e-
Government, the Master Plan of National Research, the Master Plan of National Industry 
Development 2015 – 2035, and the Making Indonesia 4.0 initiative. Meanwhile, the national strategy 
of smart city initiative is to leverage 100 Smart City Programs by incorporation of the Ministry of ICT, 
the Ministry of Home Affairs, the Ministry of National Planning Development, the Ministry of Public 
Work and Housing, and Presidential Staff Office. The reference of Smart City initiative can be found in 
Ministry of ICT Regulation No 14 Year 2016 on ICT Nomenclature Guidelines for Local Government.  
 
Ref. 
Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on e-Government,  
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf  
 

 

D. Strategy and Implementation 

19. Is there a national e-government strategy or equivalent? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Through presidential regulation number 95/2018 on E-Government, Indonesia has established its 
national strategy for e-government implementation, as attached on the provided  link. 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/puu-971-Peraturan%20Presiden.html  
 
Since the enactment of this presidential regulation, Indonesia has experienced a huge leap especially 
on the perspective of policy, governance, management and services. Indonesia, through its National E-
government Coordinating Team that consists of 7 ministries/agencies, has currently been building the 
foundation of its e-government implementation through several program activities such as formulating 
policies, strengthening governance to composing a national e-government enterprise architecture and 
a national e-government road map. 
 
In a wider perspective, through the Presidential Regulation No. 18/2020 on medium-long term plan 
2020-2024, e-government has become the game-changer for Indonesia’s public sector and 
bureaucratic reform. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/131386/perpres-no-18-tahun-2020 
Several e-government schemes have been built in the ministries, agencies and local governments to 
cut bureaucracy and speed up the public service performances.  

 

20. How long is the period/cycle of the national e-government strategy or equivalent? * 

 Two-year  

 Three-year 

 Five-year  

https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/puu-971-Peraturan%20Presiden.html
https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/131386/perpres-no-18-tahun-2020
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 Ten-year  

 Other Eight-years  

 

21. Is the national e-government strategy guided by or aligned with the national development strategy? 

Please provide link and detail. 

E-Government is a continuous effort in the development of the state to create a competitive nation. By 
the end of 2025, it is hoped that the government has succeeded in achieving SPBE integration both 
within and between Central Agencies and Regional Governments, and E-government linkages between 
Central Agencies and Regional Governments. With an integrated E-Government, it is hoped that it will 
create an integrated government business process between the Central Agency and the Regional 
Government so that it will form a unified whole and comprehensive government and produce a high-
performing government bureaucracy and public service. To achieve this, each Central Agency and Local 
Government are currently transforming paradigms and processes in the context of governance, 
electronic-based public services, ICT support, and human resources. 
 
The E-government policy direction is enacted by taking into account the alignment of the development 
of the state based on two long-term national strategic policies, namely the National Long-Term 
Development Plan 2005 - 2025 (link a) and the Grand Design for Bureaucratic Reform 2010 - 2025 (link 
b) as stated as stated in Article 5 number (3) Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on e-
Government “The National e-Government Master Plan is formulated based on the National Long Term 
Development Plan and Grand Design of Bureaucratic Reform“  (link c) 
 
Link: 

a. https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-
pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-
2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi
%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa 

b. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/41084/perpres-no-81-tahun-2010 
c. https://jdih.menpan.go.id/puu-971-Peraturan%20Presiden.html 

 

22. Is the national e-government strategy guided by or aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals 

(SDGs)? Please provide link and detail. 

E-government is an effective tool for facilitating integrated policies and public service by promoting 
accountable and transparent institutions, such as through open data and participatory decision-making 
(provide link), and therefore it has the potential to help support the implementation of the 2030 
Agenda for Sustainable Development and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). 
 
Information and communication technologies have truly transformed the public sector into an 
instrument of sustainable development, efficiency in service delivery must be also coupled with social 
equity and ensuring that all people can access quality services (provide link). Such efforts are vital to 
making sure that the sustainable development goals are at the center of all government policies and of 
public management and that no one is left behind. 
 
Through the presidential regulation No. 59/2017 on Implementation of Achievement of Sustainable 
Development Goals (link 1). This Presidential Decree is intended as a follow-up to the agreement in 
Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development to end poverty, improve 
public health, promote education, and combat climate change. In addition, this Presidential Regulation 
sets 17 goals and 169 targets that are in line with the National Medium Term Development Plan 
(RPJMN) targets, and are further elaborated in a Road Map, National Action Plan, and Regional Action 

https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/41084/perpres-no-81-tahun-2010
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/puu-971-Peraturan%20Presiden.html
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Plan Development Goals. By this mandate, e-government has been a highlight of digitalization of 
various sectors especially in the financial, taxes and creative economy. (link 2) 
 
Link:  

1. https://www.sdg2030indonesia.org/an-component/media/upload-
book/A_Perpres_Nomor_59_Tahun_2017.pdf 

2. https://www.sdg2030indonesia.org/ 

 

23. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to or is aligned with sub-

national/local e-government development strategy? Please provide link and detail. 

As mandated by Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on E-government, all the sub-
national/local e-government development strategies have to be aligned with the national e-
government strategy. The scheme that we use to make it possible is by building a Government 
Enterprise Architecture and National E-Government Road Map. It is hoped that all of the initiatives that 
are created among the government bodies could meet the bigger, wider national e-government vision 
and mission.  
It is in line with the mandate as stated in Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on E-government 
on the Article 12 Number (1) “The Government Enterprise Architecture of Local Government is 
formulated based on the National e-Government Enterprise Architecture and the Local Government 
Medium-Term Development Plan”. By this mandate, it is clear that the National E-Government 
Coordinating Team requires all the central institutions and local governments to formulate their e-
government enterprise architecture referring to the bigger, wider national set up. 
Meanwhile, as stated in Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on E-government, on the Article 
18 Number (1) and the Article 19 Number (1), both for the central institutions and local government 
should compose their e-government Road Map based on the National E-Government Road Map, 
National E-government Enterprise Architecture and their own strategic plans.  
 
Link: 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 

 

24. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to e-participation, engagement 

and/or digital inclusion? Please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia is increasingly adopting various methods to motivate citizens regarding the use of e-
government systems. As we all know, ICT enables public sector reform through the essential 
consideration of ICT training as an enabler. The major emphasis of applying ICT in e-government is to 
assure the implementation of government policies; moreover, the decisive goal is to enrich citizens’ 
trust in government. E-participation, engagement and digital inclusion work on motivating citizens, but 
more practical work is required to capitalize on such concepts. Indonesia, through the Presidential 
Regulations 95/2018 “PR-95” has set various strategies to make sure the whole concept of these three 
things are implemented.  
 
ICT training that is meant as an enabler of e-participation, engagement and digital inclusion has been 
held by the Ministry of Communication and Informatics of the Republic of Indonesia. Through the 
program called Digital Talent Scholarship (link 1), Indonesia aims at developing human resources and 
preparing the citizens, especially the younger generation, to enable more participation and 
engagement, to increase digital inclusion and to face the Industrial Revolution 4.0 and more. This 
program is aligned with the mandate from the Presidential Regulation Number 95 Year 2018 on E-
government especially on the strategic plan section (see the attachment to the human resources 
section) which states that literacy promotion is the main point in increasing human resource capacity 

https://www.sdg2030indonesia.org/an-component/media/upload-book/A_Perpres_Nomor_59_Tahun_2017.pdf
https://www.sdg2030indonesia.org/an-component/media/upload-book/A_Perpres_Nomor_59_Tahun_2017.pdf
https://www.sdg2030indonesia.org/
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
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of e-government in Indonesia. (link 2) Another example, the National E-Government Coordinating Team 
has also prepared the E-learning platform to promote digital literacy. (link 3) 
 
As also stated on Indonesia’s e-government strategic plan, the e-participation, engagement and digital 
inclusion have been encouraged through the E-Government Collaboration Forum platform that 
connects among the central and local government, public, private and citizens. Aligned with that, the 
Agency for the Assessment and Application of Technology, on behalf of the National E-Government 
Coordinating Team, has built a knowledge management platform that is meant to be used for all the 
central institutions and local governments, public, private, universities, citizens and all the stakeholders 
to exchange knowledge in order to realize the most impactful policy formulation especially on e-
government implementation. (link 4) 
 
Link 

1. https://digitalent.kominfo.go.id/ 
2. https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 
3. http://elearning.spbe.go.id/ 
4. https://simpan-spbe.bppt.go.id/index.php/beranda 

 

25. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to a national data governance 

framework or similar? Please provide link and detail. 

Indonesia's national data governance framework has been generally encouraged by the Presidential 
Regulation Number 95 year 2018 on E-Government especially on the Article 7 Number 4-point b and 
any other architecture mandates that concern in the making of data and information architecture (link 
1). By these mandates, central institutions and local governments in Indonesia have the responsibility 
to build their data governance based on their enterprise architecture which is aligned to the national 
e-government enterprise architecture.  
 
Meanwhile, specifically regulating the data-related implementation in line with the previous mandate, 
Indonesia also has the Presidential Regulation No. 39/2019 on Indonesia One Data (Satu Data 
Indonesia) (link 2). One Data Indonesia is a government data governance policy to produce data that is 
accurate, up-to-date, integrated, and accountable and easy to access and share between Central 
Agencies and Regional Agencies through compliance with Data Standards, Metadata, Data 
Interoperability using Data Reference and Main Data Codes. This policy has been the national data 
governance that is currently in use to realize unified data governance at the national level. Through 
One Data Indonesia, all government data and other related agencies data would lead to the One Data 
Indonesia Portal (link 3). 
 
On the other hand, by the combination of these two presidential regulations, Ministry of National 
Development Planning/National Development Planning Agency, on behalf of the National E-
Government Coordinating Team, has established the derivative policy on Data Management through 
the Ministerial Regulation No. 16/2020 on E-Government Data Management (link 4). Specifically 
mentioned in the Article 4 number 2, E-Government Data Management is established to help Central 
Agencies and Regional Governments to be able to understand Data needs, to obtain, store, protect, 
and ensure Data integrity, to continuously improve Data quality, and to maximize effective use of Data. 
 
Link  

1. https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 
2. https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Perpres-Nomor-39-Tahun-2019.pdf 
3. https://data.go.id/dataset 

https://digitalent.kominfo.go.id/
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
http://elearning.spbe.go.id/
https://simpan-spbe.bppt.go.id/index.php/beranda
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Perpres-Nomor-39-Tahun-2019.pdf
https://data.go.id/dataset
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4. https://jdih.bappenas.go.id/peraturan/countviewer/2470/2020-PERMEN-PPN-016.pdf 

 

26. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to national digital identity? Please 

provide link and detail. 

Yes, the national e-Government strategy that stated on e-Government Masterplan that attached in 
Presidential Regulation number 95 Year 2018 on e-Government mandates one data policy which one 
of the priority program is national single digital identity.  
Link 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 
 

 

27. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to digital-by-default/digital-by-

design/digital-first principle or similar? Please provide link and detail. 

Yes, it is in the National e-Government Master Plan which is attached to Presidential Regulation number 
95 Year 2018 on e-Government. As stated on page 9, chapter 1.3 Desired Conditions, where by the end 
of 2025 the government is expected to have succeeded in achieving e-Government integration both 
within and between Central and Local Governments, and e-Government linkages between Central 
Agencies and Regional Governments. With an integrated e-Government, it is hoped that it will create 
an integrated government business process between the Central Government and the Local 
Government, so that it will form a unified whole and comprehensive government and produce a high-
performing government bureaucracy and public service to support digitization transformation. To 
achieve this, every Central Agency and Local Government needs to transform paradigms and processes 
in the context of governance, electronic-based public services, ICT support, and human resources. 
 
Ref. 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 

 

28. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to data-once-only principle or 

similar? Please provide link and detail. 

Data-once-only principle has been generally encouraged by the Presidential Regulation No. 95/2018 on 
E-Government. From the establishment of Government Enterprise Architecture, the National E-
Government Coordinating Team has required all the central institutions and local governments to 
integrate the government data in order to support the integration of the public services especially aims 
to ensure that citizens, institutions, and companies only have to provide certain standard information 
to the authorities and administrations once. By incorporating data protection regulations and the 
explicit consent of the users, the public administration is allowed to re-use and exchange the data with 
each other (link 1) 
 
Through the Presidential Regulations No. 39/2019 on One Data Indonesia and its derivative policy, the 
Ministry of National Development Planning Regulations No. 16/2020 on E-Government Management 
Data, the National E-Government Coordinating Team has regulated the data governance policy to 
produce data that is accurate, up-to-date, integrated, and accountable and easy to access and share 
between Central Agencies and Regional Agencies in order to realize the data-once-only principle. (link 
2,3) 
 
One of the most advanced examples of these two presidential regulations realization, Indonesia has 
several data-once-only-principle-based information systems, one of them is Online Single Submission 
by the Ministry of Investment/Capital Investment Coordinating Board (link 4). Not only it has been used 

https://jdih.bappenas.go.id/peraturan/countviewer/2470/2020-PERMEN-PPN-016.pdf
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
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at the national level, the Online Single Submission has also been implemented at the local government 
level (link 5). 
 
Link 

1. https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 
2. https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Perpres-Nomor-39-Tahun-2019.pdf 
3. https://jdih.bappenas.go.id/peraturan/countviewer/2470/2020-PERMEN-PPN-016.pdf 
4. https://jdih.bkpm.go.id/jdih/front/form/19227 
5. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Download/154505/PP%20Nomor%206%20Tahun%20202

1.pdf 

 

29. Does the national e-government strategy make specific reference to the use of new/emerging 

technologies such as artificial Intelligence (AI), robotics, blockchains, 5G and Internet of Things (IoT)? 

Please provide link and detail.; 

 

The use of emerging technologies has been generally encouraged by the Presidential Regulations No. 

95/2018 on E-Government. The use of technology 4.0 such as Government Big Data, Cloud Computing, 

Artificial Intelligence (AI), Internet of Things (IoT) has been mandated in the section of National E-

Government Master Plan (link 1). It is planned to be implemented in the year of 2023 in a development 

phase. However, several initiatives have been taken by the National E-Government Coordinating Team 

and related stakeholders in order to realize the implementation of the use of technology 4.0, such as: 

 

 Artificial intelligence (AI); link/detail:  

 

On behalf of the National E-Government Coordinating Team, The Agency for the Assessment and 

Application of Technology (BPPT) has launched the National Strategy for Artificial Intelligence of the 

Republic of Indonesia (Stranas KA) 2020-2045. There are 5 priorities in the development of artificial 

intelligence (AI) in Indonesia such as Health, Bureaucratic reform, Education and research, Food security, 

and Mobility/smart city. Stranas KA is strengthened by a Presidential regulation on Indonesia's strategy 

for the use of artificial intelligence in all aspects which include AI talent development, Ethics and AI policy 

studies, AI Infrastructure and Data, AI Industry Research and Innovation, as well as AI implementation 

Priority and Quick win programs. Link: 

1. AI National Strategy  https://ai-innovation.id/  

2. https://ai-innovation.id/server/static/ebook/stranas-ka.pdf 

3. https://inet.detik.com/cyberlife/d-5243095/5-prioritas-bppt-kembangkan-ai-di-indonesia 

4. https://www.lapan.go.id/post/6951/ini-kecanggihan-elang-hitam-drone-indonesia-yang-tak-

kalah-dengan-buatan-amerika 

           

 Robotics; link/detail:  

 

The COVID-19 virus pandemic has spread all over the world. Unmitigated, in Indonesia alone, the number 

of positive patients exposed to the COVID-19 virus was recorded as 1.885.942 patients until now, with the 

highest number in DKI Jakarta Province. With such a large number of patients, one of the crucial problems 

faced by all countries is the very limited number of health workers available to serve COVID-19 patients.  

To overcome these conditions, various countries have made a number of breakthroughs. Among them is 

the use of technology by utilizing robotic power to be able to help work needs that were previously the 

https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdih.bssn.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Perpres-Nomor-39-Tahun-2019.pdf
https://jdih.bappenas.go.id/peraturan/countviewer/2470/2020-PERMEN-PPN-016.pdf
https://jdih.bkpm.go.id/jdih/front/form/19227
https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Download/154505/PP%20Nomor%206%20Tahun%202021.pdf
https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Download/154505/PP%20Nomor%206%20Tahun%202021.pdf
https://ai-innovation.id/
https://ai-innovation.id/server/static/ebook/stranas-ka.pdf
https://inet.detik.com/cyberlife/d-5243095/5-prioritas-bppt-kembangkan-ai-di-indonesia
https://www.lapan.go.id/post/6951/ini-kecanggihan-elang-hitam-drone-indonesia-yang-tak-kalah-dengan-buatan-amerika
https://www.lapan.go.id/post/6951/ini-kecanggihan-elang-hitam-drone-indonesia-yang-tak-kalah-dengan-buatan-amerika
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responsibility of media workers. Indonesia also seems to have begun to use robotics to reduce the 

workload that must be borne by medical personnel. Link: 

1. https://www.wartaekonomi.co.id/read282879/keren-parah-sih-ini-lho-5-robot-buatan-

indonesia-untuk-lawan-corona 

2. Making Indonesia 4.0  https://www.kemenperin.go.id/download/18384 

 

 Blockchains; link/detail:  

 

In Indonesia, blockchain technology has actually been applied outside of cryptocurrencies. In the banking 

world, for example, PT Bank Central Asia Tbk (BCA) has implemented blockchain internally to speed up 

payment transactions and reduce the complexity of back office transactions. There are also state-owned 

enterprises (BUMN) that are looking at blockchain, namely PT Pos Indonesia. This logistics company has 

developed Digiro.in, a current account service that adopts blockchain technology. In addition to the fields 

mentioned above, blockchain technology has also been applied in the field of taxation. In Indonesia, 

blockchain has been applied by a tax application service provider called OnlinePajak. Link:  

1. https://www.online-pajak.com/tentang-pajak/blockchain 

2. https://dailysocial.id/post/bca-klaim-sudah-mulai-terapkan-teknologi-blockchain 

3. https://dailysocial.id/post/mengenal-digiroin-open-platform-yang-memanfaatkan-teknologi-

blockchain 

4. https://www.online-pajak.com/ 

 

 5G; link/detail:  

 

Indonesia is in the preparation stage to provide quality 5G services for the community, as well as for the 

growth of the economic sector. Therefore, comprehensive governance is needed. The National E-

Government Coordinating Team, through The Ministry of Communication and Informatics has been in 

charge of an effort to implement and develop quality 5G services. Synergy is needed from at least five 

policy aspects. The five aspects include regulatory aspects, radio frequency spectrum, business model, 

infrastructure, as well as equipment, ecosystem, and digital talent. Link: 

1. https://kominfo.go.id/content/detail/33740/siaran-pers-no114hmkominfo042021-tentang-

dukungan-tata-kelola-5g-yang-komprehensif-menteri-johnny-paparkan-5-aspek-

kebijakan/0/siaran_pers 

2. https://gadget.jagatreview.com/2020/12/roadmap-5g-dan-transformasi-digital-indonesia-

kembali-dipaparkan/ 

3. https://www.antaranews.com/berita/1977297/kominfo-susun-peta-jalan-indonesia-digital-

2021-2024 

 

 Internet of Things (IoT); link/detail:  

 

The Internet of Things trend in Indonesia is growing healthily. Although growth in the consumer sector is 

still not very satisfactory, utilization of Internet of Things in the industrial sector seems to show 

seriousness. Efficiency of the rotation of the business wheel in the company's body is a strong reason 

behind it. In general terms, the IoT ecosystem in Indonesia has at least shown off with several innovation 

champions with great potential to become bigger; here are five initiations among them. 

Link 

https://www.wartaekonomi.co.id/read282879/keren-parah-sih-ini-lho-5-robot-buatan-indonesia-untuk-lawan-corona
https://www.wartaekonomi.co.id/read282879/keren-parah-sih-ini-lho-5-robot-buatan-indonesia-untuk-lawan-corona
https://www.kemenperin.go.id/download/18384
https://www.online-pajak.com/tentang-pajak/blockchain
https://dailysocial.id/post/bca-klaim-sudah-mulai-terapkan-teknologi-blockchain
https://dailysocial.id/post/mengenal-digiroin-open-platform-yang-memanfaatkan-teknologi-blockchain
https://dailysocial.id/post/mengenal-digiroin-open-platform-yang-memanfaatkan-teknologi-blockchain
https://www.online-pajak.com/
https://kominfo.go.id/content/detail/33740/siaran-pers-no114hmkominfo042021-tentang-dukungan-tata-kelola-5g-yang-komprehensif-menteri-johnny-paparkan-5-aspek-kebijakan/0/siaran_pers
https://kominfo.go.id/content/detail/33740/siaran-pers-no114hmkominfo042021-tentang-dukungan-tata-kelola-5g-yang-komprehensif-menteri-johnny-paparkan-5-aspek-kebijakan/0/siaran_pers
https://kominfo.go.id/content/detail/33740/siaran-pers-no114hmkominfo042021-tentang-dukungan-tata-kelola-5g-yang-komprehensif-menteri-johnny-paparkan-5-aspek-kebijakan/0/siaran_pers
https://gadget.jagatreview.com/2020/12/roadmap-5g-dan-transformasi-digital-indonesia-kembali-dipaparkan/
https://gadget.jagatreview.com/2020/12/roadmap-5g-dan-transformasi-digital-indonesia-kembali-dipaparkan/
https://www.antaranews.com/berita/1977297/kominfo-susun-peta-jalan-indonesia-digital-2021-2024
https://www.antaranews.com/berita/1977297/kominfo-susun-peta-jalan-indonesia-digital-2021-2024


22 

 

1. https://dailysocial.id/post/5-inovasi-startup-internet-of-things-di-indonesia-yang-layak-untuk-

disimak  

2. Roadmap on Making Indonesia 4.0 https://www.kemenperin.go.id/download/18384 

 

 Others; link/detail: __________________________ 

 

30. Is the national e-government strategy aligned to any regional or global guidelines, recommendations 

or goals (e.g. United Nations, African Union, European Union, OECD)? Please provide link and detail. 

The National E-government Strategy policy direction is enacted generally through the Presidential 
Regulation No. 95/2018 on E-Government which was created by taking into account the alignment of 
the development of the state based on two long-term national strategic policies, namely the National 
Long-Term Development Plan 2005 - 2025 (link 1) and the Grand Design for Bureaucratic Reform 2010 
- 2025 (link 2) 
 
Meanwhile, the government has set the direction of digital transformation in 2024 in which digital 
economic growth must reach 3.17% to 4.66%. Based on the 2020-2024 National Medium-Term 
Development Plan (RPJMN), after the Making Indonesia 4.0 movement, the government will take 
advantage of the digital economy to increase upstream-downstream efficiency and aggressively 
contribute to the added value of the processing industry to the economy. 
 
One of the most strategic steps in order to reach that goal, the 2020-2024 National Medium-Term 
Development Plan has encouraged digital transformation for the next 5 years. With this strategy, the 
Ease on Doing Business (EoDB) Indonesia, which has reached the level 73th position in 2020, is targeted 
to increase by 2024 to 40th. (link 4)  
 
The government is committed to continue to maintain the momentum of reform and improve the ease 
of doing business in Indonesia (link 5) so that it is in line with international best practice on an ongoing 
basis through improving the ease of doing business, providing legal certainty in doing business, and 
creating competitiveness in business activities in Indonesia. The three types of reforms that have been 
carried out include indicators for Starting a Business, Obtaining a Loan, and Registering Property. (link 
6) 
 
In order to accelerate the ease of doing business in Indonesia, aligned with the National Strategic Goal, 
the President of Indonesia has conducted the Ministry of Investment/Capital Investment Coordinating 
Board (link 7). The formation of this new ministry is expected to be able to answer all investment 
problems that have not been resolved until now. Since his first term of government, President Jokowi 
has paid enough attention to the problems that hinder the entry of investment in Indonesia. Starting 
from simplification of rules to revamping the licensing process. (link 8) 
 
Meanwhile, in line with the formulation of the SDGs at the global level, Indonesia has also composed 
the National Medium-Term Development Plan (RPJMN) for 2015-2019 and 2020-2024, so that the 
substance contained in the SDGs is in line with the RPJMN which is the elaboration of Nawacita as the 
President's Vision and Mission. The number of SDGs targets that have been integrated with the 2020-
2024 RPJMN is 124 targets. This is a form of the government's commitment to the successful 
implementation of the SDGs in Indonesia because for Indonesia, to implement the SDGs is actually 
implementing the National Development Agenda and Indonesia's support for the successful 
achievement of the 2030 Agenda at the global level. (link 9) 
 

https://dailysocial.id/post/5-inovasi-startup-internet-of-things-di-indonesia-yang-layak-untuk-disimak
https://dailysocial.id/post/5-inovasi-startup-internet-of-things-di-indonesia-yang-layak-untuk-disimak
https://www.kemenperin.go.id/download/18384
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On a more specific level, the National E-Government Monitoring and Evaluation which is conducted by 
the National E-Government Coordinating Team, is done based on E-Government Maturity Models. This 
model measures the evolution of E-Government based on aspects of functionality and technical 
capabilities developed by many parties. Names that have developed include: Layne and Lee (2001), 
Andersen and Henriksen (2006), Kim and Grant (2010), and the United Nations on the UN e-
Government Survey (2012). (link 10) Having a similar goal, the National E-Government Coordinating 
Team has set up the United Nations E-Government Survey as the national goals. (link 11, 12) 
 
Link: 

1. https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-
pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-
2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi
%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa 

2. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/41084/perpres-no-81-tahun-2010 
3. http://kinerja.ekon.go.id/berita/detail/program-prioritas-54-ease-of-doing-business-eodb 
4. https://www.wantiknas.go.id/id/berita/arah-transformasi-digital-indonesia 
5. https://www.doingbusiness.org/content/dam/doingBusiness/country/i/indonesia/IDN.pdf 
6. https://www.oecd.org/indonesia/ 
7. https://money.kompas.com/read/2021/04/28/172029926/sah-bkpm-kini-menjadi-

kementerian-investasi 
8. https://katadata.co.id/safrezifitra/indepth/608b11c667422/berharap-kementerian-baru-

menjawab-permasalahan-investasi 
9. http://sdgs.bappenas.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Buku-Pedoman-Rencana-Aksi-

SDGs.pdf 
10. https://blog.gamatechno.com/evaluasi-spbe/ 
11. https://menpan.go.id/site/berita-terkini/hasil-survei-pbb-e-government-indonesia-naik-

peringkat 
12. https://indonesia.go.id/kategori/kuliner/1946/ketika-indeks-e-government-indonesia-naik-

19-peringkat 
 

 

31. Does the Government use any foresight tools, such as scenario planning, in visioning the future of 

digital government? Please provide link and detail. 

In order to vision the future of digital government, Indonesia, through the National E-Government 
Coordinating Team, has created the government enterprise architecture. Government Enterprise 
Architecture is defined as a whole of government approach to support government ecosystems by 
transcending boundaries for delivering services in a coordinated, efficient, and equitable manner. 
 
Indonesia is revitalizing public administration, overhauling public management, fostering inclusive 
leadership, and developing its public services to become more efficient, transparent, and accountable. 
This creates the need to change the way in which Services are delivered and consumed, Internal back-
office operations are executed, Resources and processes are sourced and combined. In this context, 
Indonesia is turning to Government Enterprise Architecture to bridge policies and outcomes for better 
services. 
 
Meanwhile, in the scenario planning, the National E-Government Coordinating Team, through the 
Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform, is establishing the National E-Government 
Roadmap as the tools to guide the digital transformation of public service in Indonesia into an 
inclusive digital government where all the government agencies and citizens can benefit from the 

https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://www.bappenas.go.id/id/data-dan-informasi-utama/dokumen-perencanaan-dan-pelaksanaan/dokumen-rencana-pembangunan-nasional/rpjp-2005-2025/rpjpn-2005-2025/#:~:text=Rencana%20Pembangunan%20Jangka%20Panjang%20Nasional,acuan%20bagi%20seluruh%20komponen%20bangsa
https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/41084/perpres-no-81-tahun-2010
http://kinerja.ekon.go.id/berita/detail/program-prioritas-54-ease-of-doing-business-eodb
https://www.wantiknas.go.id/id/berita/arah-transformasi-digital-indonesia
https://www.doingbusiness.org/content/dam/doingBusiness/country/i/indonesia/IDN.pdf
https://www.oecd.org/indonesia/
https://money.kompas.com/read/2021/04/28/172029926/sah-bkpm-kini-menjadi-kementerian-investasi
https://money.kompas.com/read/2021/04/28/172029926/sah-bkpm-kini-menjadi-kementerian-investasi
https://katadata.co.id/safrezifitra/indepth/608b11c667422/berharap-kementerian-baru-menjawab-permasalahan-investasi
https://katadata.co.id/safrezifitra/indepth/608b11c667422/berharap-kementerian-baru-menjawab-permasalahan-investasi
http://sdgs.bappenas.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Buku-Pedoman-Rencana-Aksi-SDGs.pdf
http://sdgs.bappenas.go.id/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Buku-Pedoman-Rencana-Aksi-SDGs.pdf
https://blog.gamatechno.com/evaluasi-spbe/
https://menpan.go.id/site/berita-terkini/hasil-survei-pbb-e-government-indonesia-naik-peringkat
https://menpan.go.id/site/berita-terkini/hasil-survei-pbb-e-government-indonesia-naik-peringkat
https://indonesia.go.id/kategori/kuliner/1946/ketika-indeks-e-government-indonesia-naik-19-peringkat
https://indonesia.go.id/kategori/kuliner/1946/ketika-indeks-e-government-indonesia-naik-19-peringkat
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opportunities offered by digital technologies to improve the government performance and quality of 
life. This document defines a renewed approach and program of action that will radically improve the 
electronic government (e-Government) situation in Indonesia. 
Link 
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 

 

32. Does the Government have any measure in policy experimentation and/or regulatory sandboxes in 

using digital technologies? Please provide link and detail. 

Since enactment of Presidential Regulation No. 95/2018 on E-Government, as mentioned on the Article 
70 (link 1), the Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform, on behalf of the National E-
Government Coordinating Team, has conducted the monitoring and evaluation to measure the policy 
experimentation and regulations in using digital technologies.  
 
This e-government evaluation is a process of assessing the implementation of SPBE in Government 
Agencies to produce an SPBE Index value that describes the maturity level of SPBE implementation in 
Government Agencies. There are 3 (three) important elements in the implementation of the SPBE, 
namely: Government administration is an element of governance from the bureaucracy, reliability of 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) as an enabler in its implementation, and the last is 
the ease of government services provided to users according to their respective duties and functions. 
 
Link  
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf 

E. Digital Inclusion and E-Participation 

Note: Vulnerable groups include women, older people, youth, people with disabilities, migrants, 

minorities and others 

33. Is there a national policy/strategy or similar in ensuring digital inclusion and leaving no one behind?* 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

The national strategy in providing the widest possible digital access to the entire community, is carried 
out one of them through the preparation of network access that reaches the frontier, outermost and 
disadvantaged areas (3T), this activity is part of the government's long-term plan in the form of a major 
digital transformation project, carried out by the ministry communication and informatics, through the 
establishment of a Public Service Agency, namely the Telecommunication and Information Accessibility 
Agency by Decree of the Minister of Finance of the Republic of Indonesia Number 413/KMK.05/2019 
dated 15 May 2019. 
 
Ref. 
https://www.baktikominfo.id/id/home  

 

34. Is there a national e-participation policy/strategy or similar? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

In an effort to emphasize the rights and obligations of every citizen and resident, as well as the 
realization of state and corporate responsibilities in the administration of public services, legal aspects 

https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/Perpres%20Nomor%2095%20Tahun%202018.pdf
https://www.baktikominfo.id/id/home


25 

 

are needed that provide clear regulations, which is contained in Regulation Number 25 Year 2009 on 
Public Service. Furthermore, to meet the needs of the community in obtaining quality and fair public 
services, the Government has provided facilities for complaints and assignments to public service 
complaints managements which aim to accommodate the aspirations of the community. Its 
implementation is regulated through Presidential Regulation Number 76 Year 2013 on Public Service 
Complaint Management. 
 
Ref. 
Regulation Number 25 Year 2009 on Public Service 
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOXV1MDI1LnBkZg  
Presidential Regulation No 76 Year 2013 on Public Service Complaint Management  
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxM3ByMDc2LnBkZg  

 

35. Does the Government provide any specific measure(s) to ensure meaningful connectivity/access to 

e-government services by women and other vulnerable groups? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Women and vulnerable groups are also citizens of the Republic of Indonesia which in the 1945 
Constitution are guaranteed to have the same position, rights, obligations and roles as other citizens. 
In the context of realizing national development aimed at realizing a just and prosperous society 
based on Pancasila and the 1945 Constitution. As stated in Article 5 paragraph (3) of Regulation 
Number 39 Year 1999 on Human Rights which states that everyone, including vulnerable groups, has 
the right to greater treatment and protection according to their specificity. Special treatment for 
vulnerable groups in the form of providing infrastructure in the provision of public services is also a 
mandate of Regulation Number 25 Year 2009 on Public Services. Therefore, the provision of e-
government infrastructure must accommodate the connectivity/access by women and vulnerable 
groups.  

 

36. Does the Government provide any specific e-service(s) for women and other vulnerable groups? 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

The Government of the Republic of Indonesia, in an effort to protect women and children from all 
acts of violence, has compiled various regulations including Law Number 23 of 2004 concerning the 
Elimination of Domestic Violence 
Link 
https://kekerasan.kemenpppa.go.id/  

 

37. Does the Government provide any specific e-participation measure(s) for women and other 

vulnerable groups? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

Basically, e-participation service in Indonesia has been integrated into e-Lapor that can be accessed 
gender-inclusively. However, this public complaint service has not been able to cover vulnerable 
groups as a whole, where facilities and infrastructure are not yet adequate in certain areas  

https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAwOXV1MDI1LnBkZg
https://jdihn.go.id/file/download/MjAxM3ByMDc2LnBkZg
https://kekerasan.kemenpppa.go.id/
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Link 
https://www.lapor.go.id/  

 

38. Does the Government provide any specific measure(s) to build digital literacy/skills for women and 

other vulnerable groups? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

The government works on policies and programs to be more gender-inclusive and other vulnerable 
groups. It is imperative that women and other vulnerable groups also have equal access to the tools 
and capacities offered by advanced technology in order for us to achieve full development. Therefore, 
the Government is currently always conducting socialization of new digitization policies and programs, 
especially to women and other vulnerable groups. 
 
Ref. 
https://webfoundation.org/2018/08/bridging-the-digital-literacy-gap-for-girls-in-indonesia/  

 

39. Does the Government use social media platform(s)? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail if social media is used for (i) e-information; (ii) e-consultation; 

and/or (iii) e-decision-making 

In the current COVID-19 pandemic situation, the use of social media has an important role in carrying 

out the duties and functions of government organizations. In addition to several central and local 

governments building social media platforms, such as: Qlue, Media Social Mapping (MSM), V-cube (On-

premise Web Conference/Video Conference Application). Massively, existing mainstream social media 

platforms are also used for exchanging information, consulting and making decisions, such as 

Whatsapp, Telegram, Twitter, Youtube, Zoom, etc. In Indonesia, almost each government organization 

(local and central government) has their own social media that provide information about the 

government programs and activities, and also people can do consultation about the implementation of 

government policies and regulations. Moreover, the government also uses the social media for 

gathering information of what people’s needs to create regulations or services and also to monitor and 

evaluate its regulations and services. 

Furthermore, the use of social media in terms of e-information, e-consultation, and e-decision-making 

can be seen on LAPOR!. LAPOR! is a public complaint handling system that can be accessed through 

social media like Facebook https://www.facebook.com/lapor1708/ , Instagram 

https://www.instagram.com/lapor1708/?hl=id , and twitter as well 

https://twitter.com/LAPOR1708?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor . 

The citizens can see the information about people’s voice and also the responses from the government.  

 

Please include any guidelines for government officials/institutions on the use of social media. 

The use of social media in government institutions has different ethics from the use of social media for 

personal use. Therefore, in the use of social media, government agencies must adhere to stricter ethics. 

In this case, the Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform (Kementerian PANRB) has issued 

guidelines for the use of social media as set out in the Regulation of the Minister Administrative and 

https://www.lapor.go.id/
https://webfoundation.org/2018/08/bridging-the-digital-literacy-gap-for-girls-in-indonesia/
https://www.facebook.com/lapor1708/
https://www.instagram.com/lapor1708/?hl=id
https://twitter.com/LAPOR1708?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
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Bureaucratic Reform of the Republic of Indonesia Number 83 Year 2012 on Guidelines for the Utilization 

of Social Media in Government Agencies. In this regulation we get the following ethical instructions: 

1. Uphold the honor of government agencies. 
2. Have expertise, competence, objectivity, honesty, and integrity. 
3. Maintain state secrets and carry out the oath of office. 
4. Enforce applicable ethics in order to create the image and reputation of government agencies. 
5. Respect the code of ethics for civil servants. 
6. Deliver and receive true, precise and accurate public information. 
7. Appreciate, respect, and foster solidarity as well as the good name of institutions and individuals. 
8. Implement public information disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the legislation. 
 
Furthermore, based on Presidential Instruction Number 9 Year 2015 on Public Communication 

Management, government institutions have to disseminate government achievements in all sectors by 

all means including social media. The Coordinating Ministry of Politics, Law and Security has created 

Social Media Synergy for State Apparatus, and the Ministry of ICT created a guideline book on the use 

of social media in government institutions.  

 

40. Does the Government publish information on how people's voices, including those among women 

and vulnerable groups, are included in policy decision-making? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

The opportunity for the community to participate in the process of forming laws and regulations has 
been accommodated in the positive legal provisions of Article 96 of Regulation Number 12 Year 2011 
on the Establishment of Legislations. With the adoption of the principle of openness in the law, the 
public has the right to provide input orally and/or in writing in the Formation of Legislation. Input orally 
and/or in writing can be done through public hearings, work visit, socialization, seminars, workshops, 
and/or discussions.  
 
For example, the MAMPU program, which is managed by the Government through The Ministry of 
National Development Planning/National Development Planning Agency, has formed more than 3000 
local groups at the village level. In the period 2017-2020. MAMPU has contributed to 702 policy 
decisions at the local and national levels including a new law to improve the protection of migrant 
workers and the historic Marriage Law of 74 that saw a change in 2019 for women's marriage age limit 
from 16 years to 19 years. 
 
MAMPU is a partnership between the Government of Australia (DFAT) and the Government of 
Indonesia (The Ministry of National Development Planning/National Development Planning Agency), 
which aims to improve the access of poor Indonesian women to essential services and government 
programs, and support the achievement of related Sustainable Development Goals (TPB) targets. For 
the MAMPU Program, women's empowerment is both a goal and a way to achieve that goal. 
 
Moreover, Indonesia also provides public complaint handling system through LAPOR! 
(https://lapor.go.id ) that publish people's voices, including those among women, children, and 
vulnerable groups. The data on LAPOR! will be used for policy decision-making such as developing new 
services for citizens. 
Ref. 
https://www.mampu.or.id/en/ 

https://lapor.go.id/
https://www.mampu.or.id/en/
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https://lapor.go.id 

F. Usage, User Satisfaction and Evaluation 

41. Does the Government monitor/collect usage statistics of e-government services? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

In general, The Government has been monitoring and evaluating e-government services since 2018. 
Some of indicators related to administrative services and public service which contain the maturity level 
of applications utilization. Based on these data, The Government is mapping the e-government services 
that are applied by government institutions. The monitoring and evaluation of e-government services 
conducted under The Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform to the 603 of central and 
regional Government institutions. One of example services is in the Public complaint handling system, 
it collects statistics about resolved and unresolved cases. Unresolved cases are deliberately sent to 
Ombudsman for further investigation  
 
Ref. 
https://www.lapor.go.id/statistik/klasifikasi-laporan  

 

42. Does the Government measure user satisfaction of e-government services? * 

 Yes   No  

If yes, please provide link and detail. 

As mandated by Ministerial Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform Regulation No. 14 Year 2017 on 
Guidelines of Public Satisfaction Survey for Public Service Units, every government institution is 
supposed to measure and publish their own public service satisfaction index.  
Link 
Regulation : https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/permen%2014%202017.pdf  
- User satisfaction of e-government agriculture services of the city of Madiun 

https://disperta.madiunkota.go.id/2019/10/07/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-dinas-pertanian-
dan-ketahanan-pangan-tahun-2019/  

- User satisfaction of e-government Food and Drug Supervisory services of the city of Payakumbuh  
https://www.pom.go.id/new/view/more/berita/20922/Indeks-Kepuasan-Masyarakat--IKM--Tahun-
2020-Loka-POM-di-Kota-Payakumbuh.html  

- User satisfaction of e-government Investment, one-stop integrated service, and manpower  services 
https://dpmptsptk.kuansing.go.id/id/blog/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-bulan-januari-tahun-
2021-dpmptsptk-kab-kuantan-singingi.html  

 

G. Other information 

43. Please provide information about any ongoing global/regional partnership and/or digital 

cooperation, focusing on e-government and digital technologies (e.g. enhance North-South, South-

South, triangular, regional, and international cooperation) * 

1. The Government of Indonesia under The Ministry of ICT has cooperation with France Republic 
on Government Data Center.  

2. Government of Indonesia has cooperation with Australian Government on e-Government.  

https://lapor.go.id/
https://www.lapor.go.id/statistik/klasifikasi-laporan
https://jdih.menpan.go.id/data_puu/permen%2014%202017.pdf
https://disperta.madiunkota.go.id/2019/10/07/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-dinas-pertanian-dan-ketahanan-pangan-tahun-2019/
https://disperta.madiunkota.go.id/2019/10/07/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-dinas-pertanian-dan-ketahanan-pangan-tahun-2019/
https://www.pom.go.id/new/view/more/berita/20922/Indeks-Kepuasan-Masyarakat--IKM--Tahun-2020-Loka-POM-di-Kota-Payakumbuh.html
https://www.pom.go.id/new/view/more/berita/20922/Indeks-Kepuasan-Masyarakat--IKM--Tahun-2020-Loka-POM-di-Kota-Payakumbuh.html
https://dpmptsptk.kuansing.go.id/id/blog/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-bulan-januari-tahun-2021-dpmptsptk-kab-kuantan-singingi.html
https://dpmptsptk.kuansing.go.id/id/blog/indeks-kepuasan-masyarakat-ikm-bulan-januari-tahun-2021-dpmptsptk-kab-kuantan-singingi.html
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3. Currently under The Ministry of Administrative and Bureaucratic Reform has been working on 
cooperation MOU with Republic of Korea on DGCC (Digital Government Cooperation Centre). 
 

Partnership related to Cyber security: 

1.    Bilateral Agreement on Cybersecurity and Cybercrime: 

a.    Australia 

https://bssn.go.id/press-release-indonesia-dan-australia-sepakat-jalin-kerjasama-di-bidang-siber/  

b.   United Kingdom 

https://bssn.go.id/bssn-tandatangani-nota-kesepahaman-kerjasama-di-bidang-keamanan-siber-

dengan-pemerintah-inggris-raya/ 

c.    United States 

https://bssn.go.id/kepala-bssn- hadiri-undangan-delegasi-us-asean-business-council/  

d.   Netherland 

https://bssn.go.id/penandatangan-letter-of-intent-kerjasama- bidang-keamanan-siber- kepala-bssn-

dengan-menlu-belanda/ 

e.    China 

https://treaty.kemlu.go.id/apisearch/pdf?filename=CHN-2021-0228.pdf 

  

2.    Mutual Legal Agreement 

Against Transnational Cyber Crimes, Indonesia Signs MLA Cooperation: "Several MLA 
agreements that have been signed by the Indonesian government are Switzerland, ASEAN, 
Australia, Hong Kong, China, South Korea, India, Vietnam, United Arab Emirates and Iran," said 
Minister of Law and Human Rights (Menkumham) Yassona H Laoly 

https://www.liputan6.com/news/read/3928236/lawan-kejahatan-cyber-lintas-negara-indonesia-
teken-kerja-sama-mla  

  

3.    Multilateral Agreement 

a.    ASEAN LEADERS ON CYBERSECURITY 

http://setnas- asean.id/site/uploads/docume nt/document/5b04cdc25d192- asean-leaders-
statement-on-cybersecurity-cooperation.pdf  

b.   ITU 

https://www.itu.int/en/council/Pages/members.aspx 

https://bssn.go.id/press-release-indonesia-dan-australia-sepakat-jalin-kerjasama-di-bidang-siber/
https://bssn.go.id/kepala-bssn-%20hadiri-undangan-delegasi-us-asean-business-council/
https://bssn.go.id/penandatangan-letter-of-intent-kerjasama-%20bidang-keamanan-siber-%20kepala-bssn-dengan-menlu-belanda/
https://bssn.go.id/penandatangan-letter-of-intent-kerjasama-%20bidang-keamanan-siber-%20kepala-bssn-dengan-menlu-belanda/
https://treaty.kemlu.go.id/apisearch/pdf?filename=CHN-2021-0228.pdf
https://www.liputan6.com/news/read/3928236/lawan-kejahatan-cyber-lintas-negara-indonesia-teken-kerja-sama-mla
https://www.liputan6.com/news/read/3928236/lawan-kejahatan-cyber-lintas-negara-indonesia-teken-kerja-sama-mla
http://www.itu.int/en/council
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c.    UNGGE 

https://kompas.id/baca/english/2019/12/13/indonesia-and-global-cyber-norms/  

d.   INTERPOL 

https://www.interpol.int/Crimes/Cybercrime/Cybercrime-training-for-police/ASEAN-Cyber-
Capacity-Development-Project-ACCDP  

e.   G20 DIGITAL ECONOMY 

https://sherpag20indonesia.ekon.go.id/g20-digital-economy-task-force-detf-ke-3  

f.     UNCTAD ECOMMERCE 

https://knoema.com/UNCTADBECI2019/unctad-b2c-e-commerce-index?regionId=ID  

g.    UNCITRAL 

https://www.antaranews.com/berita/779619/indonesia-jadi-anggota-uncitral-pbb-2019- 
2025 

h.   RCEP 

https://economy.okezone.com/read/2019/12/17/320/21429 29/12-manfaat-perjanjian- dagang-rcep-
untuk-indonesia   
 

 

44. Please provide any other information related to e-government development in your country. 

- BPPT have developed SIMRAL – a Planning, Budgeting, and Reporting for local government 
Accounting system which is implemented in more than 20 Indonesian local governments. 
- BPPT have developed e-voting system, which was implemented in more than 1000 Indonesian 
villages for village head elections, since 2013 
- BPPT is developing a Knowledge Management System for Electronic Based Government System. 
- BPPT is developing Cloud Based Authentication System 
- BPPT have developed an Indonesian Automatic Speech Recognition 
- BPPT have developed an Indonesian Text-to-Speech System 
- BPPT have developed an English Indonesian Machine Translation System 
- BPPT is developing an English Indonesian Speech-to-Speech Translation System 
- BPPT is developing a Government Chatbot Platform  
- BPPT is developing a Personal Identification System based on Face Recognition 
- BPPT have developed an attendance authentication system based on location and face recognition 
 

 
 

H. Consent to publish this Questionnaire 

I/We authorize UN DESA to publish my/our responses as deemed necessary. * 

 Yes   No  

 

https://kompas.id/baca/english/2019/12/13/indonesia-and-global-cyber-norms/
http://www.interpol.int/Crim
https://sherpag20indonesia.ekon.go.id/g20-digital-economy-task-force-detf-ke-3
https://knoema.com/UNCTADBECI2019/unctad-b2c-e-commerce-index?regionId=ID
http://www.antaranews.com/
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THANK YOU 

Thank you for taking time to complete this important questionnaire. We very much appreciate your 

participation.  

Please complete this OPTIONAL Respondent Satisfaction Survey: https://forms.office.com/r/yTrKyZCjdT  

https://forms.office.com/r/yTrKyZCjdT

